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PREFACE



In 1903, Paul Gauguin died in Atuona on the tiny island of Hiva Oa in French Polynesia. He had lived his last three years there in a hut constructed mostly of bamboo canes and pandanus leaves. Such huts do not have a long life. The location of the hut was well known, and in 2000 the mayor of Atuona decided to clear the site and build a replica.


While the ground was being cleared, a well was discovered close to the hut. This was where Gauguin had stored his drinks to keep them cool. He rigged up a contraption like a stout fishing rod and line poking out of his studio window. When he was thirsty, he could simply haul up a bottle. A century on, the well was completely choked with rubbish, including a glass jar containing four heavily decayed human teeth.


Forensic examinations by the Human Genome Project at Cambridge proved the teeth were Gauguin’s. Further tests were carried out for cadmium, mercury and arsenic, the standard treatment for syphilis at the time. All leave mineral traces in the teeth and Gauguin’s teeth showed no trace of any of them. If the story of Gauguin as the bad boy who spread syphilis around the South Seas was not true, what other myths might we be holding on to?


In 2020, the manuscript of Gauguin’s most important written work, Avant et après, which had been missing for a century, suddenly reappeared, thanks to the UK government’s Acceptance in Lieu scheme. The long-lost manuscript, now in London’s Courtauld Institute, consists of two hundred pages, handwritten during the last two years of Gauguin’s life. Part memoir, part last testament, its sweeping narrative reveals fundamental insights into his life, relationships, thoughts, fears and beliefs.


The common assumption that Gauguin was a colonialist becomes more complicated as his manuscript excoriates colonialism and includes the text of some of the letters he wrote pointing out cases of injustice and corruption in the French colonial government of the Polynesian islands and pleading for greater justice and lower taxation of the indigenous people. He writes of his strong belief that women should be treated as equals. He loves Jesus Christ but hates the Church. We learn all this and he tells us silly stories, and much more.


The manuscript went missing soon after his death. A messed-about version purporting to be authentic was published as Paul Gauguin’s Intimate Journals in 1918. Subsequent books and biographical assumptions have been based upon it. Now we have the real thing.


In 2021, around the same time as the happy reappearance of the Avant et après manuscript, the Wildenstein Plattner Institute brought out the long-awaited final part of the catalogue raisonné of Gauguin’s works covering the paintings between 1891 and 1903.


Gauguin’s art was, and is, hugely influential. He smashed the established Western canon, ignoring rules handed down over the centuries, trading Renaissance picture-box perspective for multipoint perspective, distorting scale and privileging decorative line over believable solidity, employing colour emotionally rather than realistically and pioneering the assimilation of indigenous themes into Western art: his depictions of the Holy Family as indigenous Polynesians had Paris in uproar. His conceptual approach and stylistic simplification fanned out through Henri Matisse and the Fauves through Bonnard, Vuillard and the Nabis, influencing Edvard Munch and also Ludwig Kirchner, the leading figure of Die Brücke group of German Expressionists. Gauguin’s Polynesian pieces led Picasso to explore African art, from which evolved Cubism. It’s an enormous legacy.


The recent appearance of so much new material coinciding with contemporary debate around his troubling reputation made it seem important to re-examine Gauguin’s life; not to condemn, not to excuse, but simply to shed new light on the man and the myth.










1: REVOLUTIONARY ROAD



Shortly after his first birthday, Paul Gauguin was bundled aboard a ship called the Albert, to sail some 12,000 miles from the French port of Le Havre to Peru. The year was 1849, and France was no place for outspoken radicals such as Gauguin’s parents. Charles-Louis Napoleon had become president of the French Republic and it didn’t take political genius to foresee that he would segue smoothly from the post of president to that of Emperor Napoleon III of France. Gauguin’s father, Clovis, was an anti-Bonapartist journalist determined to continue the republican fight from Peru, where he planned to start a newspaper on the back of an excellent connection: Simón Bolívar, who overthrew Spanish rule in much of South America and had Bolivia named after him, had been a family friend. Gauguin’s mother, Aline, was also a ‘person of danger’ on the list of the French Republic’s spies and secret police. Aline had not had much time recently to be a national danger. Two years previously, she had given birth to Gauguin’s elder sister Marie, and then Gauguin himself had come along. Her hands had been more than full of babies. But sometimes symbols adhere more firmly to particular names than to their recent activities and Aline Gauguin had inherited the symbolic mantle of firebrand feminist and proto-Communist from her mother Flora Tristan.


Karl Marx met and admired Flora Tristan, whose book advocating an international workers’ movement, L’Union ouvrière, was published four years before his own Communist Manifesto calling for the same. A statue of Flora stands in Paris, where she also has a square named after her, and a women’s refuge. She has become an icon of the French feminist movement and in 1984 she was honoured with a postage stamp. The philosopher Proudhon called her a genius, and the conservative French press of the time nicknamed her Madame la Colère, Madame Anger. To her grandson Paul Gauguin, she was a heroine; he described her as a beautiful socialist-anarchist bluestocking who probably never learned to cook, ardent and utterly adorable.1 By the time he was born, she had been dead four years, but there is no doubt that the example of her moral fearlessness spurred him on to wage his own stubborn political crusades.


Gauguin is chiefly known for his Polynesian paintings, the first European pictures to turn their back on the classical and neoclassical ideals on which the Western comprehension of beauty and culture was founded, to celebrate instead a different beauty: the beauty of an indigenous people and their culture. It is less well known that while Gauguin was creating the paintings that gave visual shape to this most enchanting and exotic Eden, he was infuriating Polynesia’s French colonial administrators by fighting for the native Polynesians’ rights against the injustices of their French colonial governors. In Tahiti, he started his own newspaper and wrote satirical articles for the magazine Les Guêpes (The Wasps), delivering sting after sting on the fat flank of the corrupt French administration that ruled over the colony, and lampooning them in merciless cartoons. But Gauguin’s political activism didn’t stop at journalism; he also acted as an advocate for Polynesians in the French colonial courts, demanding justice for them against the high-handed colonial administrators, the corpulent robots with idiotic faces, who governed them oppressively and taxed them mercilessly.


Gauguin credited his grandmother Flora Tristan not only for his own lifelong readiness to battle for the underdog, but also for his talent as a painter. No discernible artistic red thread ran down the family bloodline until Flora came along. Born in 1803, she was as sketchily educated as almost all girls were at the time, but Flora understood line, and had an exceptional eye for colour. This was a commercially valuable talent in the early decades of the nineteenth century when black-and-white prints and engravings drag-anchored the racy and influential stories they were meant to be illuminating in magazines and newspapers. Coloured-in images brought illustrations a step closer towards ‘realism’ and the excitement of immediacy. In 1819, aged fifteen, Flora was apprenticed to the French artist and printmaker André Chazal, who ran a commercial printing business and sold coloured prints of famous artworks. Chazal fell in love. She was seen as exotic, otherworldly. ‘She dressed simply. Her eyes were full of the fire of the East. One had only to see her curled up in her armchair like a snake to know she was of remote origin, the daughter of sunbeams and shadows.’2 They married, had three children, and became part of Paris’s pre-Impressionist artistic avant-garde whose leader Eugène Delacroix lived a couple of doors down from them in Rue Notre-Dame-de-Lorette. Life promised a satisfying bohemian existence, but Chazal was a violent man and an incurable gambler. The more money he lost, the more violent and unreasonable he became. When there was no money to pay the rent and feed the family he told Flora not once, but repeatedly, to go out on the street and get money by prostituting herself. This was insupportable. She left, and found a job as a shop assistant. At that time, French law recognised only the father’s rights to the children, but Flora fought for custody. On discovering that Chazal had sexually abused their daughter Aline (Gauguin’s mother), Flora brought charges of incest. She was awarded custody of Aline and she changed her own and her children’s surnames from Chazal to her maiden name, Tristan. Chazal now became obsessed. He made a detailed drawing of her tombstone. He bought a brace of pistols and spent the next four years stalking and harassing Flora and Aline, jumping out at them suddenly on the street, or materialising mysteriously at a nearby café table, stroking his pistols. Finally in September 1838, he tried to kill Flora, by shooting her. She survived, but the ball was lodged three centimetres from her heart, too close to be safely removed. It remained embedded in her breast for the rest of her life. Chazal was tried for attempted murder and sentenced to twenty years’ hard labour.


After this, one might imagine that Flora would be thrilled to retire into quiet domesticity. On the contrary. Her own struggles spurred her on to right the larger injustices of the world around her, which she identified as the problems of human exploitation and degradation engendered by the galloping success of the Industrial Revolution. Ideals to the fore, Flora put her daughter Aline into what Flora deemed was an excellent republican boarding school to ensure that she should never have to rely on a husband for a living but could make her way in the world. Flora took full advantage of the notoriety gained from her two sensational court cases to turn herself into an investigative writer and reporter, addressing the issues closest to her heart: equal education and equal remuneration for women, workers’ rights and universal suffrage. In 1840 she travelled to London, where she attended a secret meeting of the Chartists as they prepared to present their national petition to Parliament demanding universal suffrage.


Investigating England further, Flora found it ridiculous that under Queen Victoria, the government of Great Britain received ‘on its knees’ the orders of a woman, but would not allow women to watch its proceedings.3 Incensed, she disguised herself as a man to get into the Houses of Parliament, where she heard the Duke of Wellington, the hero who had defeated Napoleon, drawling out a lifeless speech, after which he stretched himself out to sprawl on a bench in an attitude that reminded her of a horse with its legs in the air.


At that time, the problem of prostitution in London was no better or worse than in any other great city, but it was in child prostitution that London really excelled. The Society for the Prevention of Juvenile Prostitution estimated that there were between thirteen and fourteen thousand girl- and boy-prostitutes between the ages of ten and thirteen, a number supported by police figures. Madame la Colère found it utterly incomprehensible that Queen Victoria, a monarch of her own sex, a wife and mother, could preside over such a situation. Once again, she dressed up to see for herself, this time in the finery of the profession, and was terrified by the violence of the men who approached her for sex, and the murderous threats of the weapon-wielding brothel-keepers and pimps who simply wanted her off their profitable patch. She visited many of the terrible brothels known as ‘finishes’ in the protective company of Mr Talbot, secretary of the Society for the Prevention of Juvenile Prostitution, who was presumably masquerading as her pimp. They spent long hours witnessing scenes of horror revealing the paying customers as far more interested in the sadistic humiliation of the poor enslaved creatures than anything that could even remotely be described as pleasurable or erotic. ‘Human beings cannot descend lower,’ she wrote, and concluded that within the unnatural and inhuman environment of the teeming, overcrowded city, brothels had become torture chambers within which human beings enacted terrible revenge on the violations of the principles of humanity.4 She named London ‘Monster City’ in her journal, and made the cutting observation that the British government possibly saw the annual loss of some ten thousand children to prostitution and resulting early death as a useful contribution to their Malthusian policy of limiting population growth.


A woman before her time, though her books were successful, and her articles read, Flora Tristan never had a party, or even political followers. On returning home to France, she undertook a crusading tour of French cities, trying to rouse factory workers to unite in a fight for their basic human rights. She died during her lonely tour aged forty-one, her life probably shortened by the pistol ball lodged so close to her heart. Socialist and rationalist to the last, she stipulated in her will that her body be used in the cause of medical science; following dissection, it should be thrown into the common pit. Four years after Flora’s death, and four months after her daughter Aline had given birth to Paul Gauguin, the workers of Bordeaux raised a monument to Flora, engraved with the French Revolution’s historic rallying cry Liberté – Égalité – Fraternité updated by the additional word so threatening to the French State – Solidarité. No wonder her daughter felt it politic to flee France.


In far-off Peru, Flora’s paternal family, the Tristán-y-Moscosos, had swindled Flora out of a family inheritance. This was the material reason Aline and Clovis Gauguin chose it as their destination. Aline was going to claim her mother’s birthright. It was a long voyage. The Panama Canal had not yet been dug. In thirty years’ time, Paul Gauguin himself would pick up a shovel to work on its construction, but for now he was taking his first tottering baby steps on the bucking and swaying ship that, having crossed the Atlantic Ocean, had to sail all the way down the east coast of South America and most of the way up the other side again, to get to Aline’s family in Lima.


The Albert was not a comfortable passenger ship. It was a small, square-rigged two-master brig, the speediest type of merchant ship of its time. Captains of such ships were set in a perpetual circular race against each other to be first to deliver their cargoes before their perishable goods perished, or rival captains beat them to it and spoiled the market for the stuff they were hoping to sell. While the captain of the Albert was running his commercial race, Gauguin’s father Clovis saw the voyage as something quite else, something idealistic and beautiful. He was taking his family back to a preindustrial country, to a new dawn in whose light he might fight for modern democratic values. That his compassionate fight would be financed by his wife’s family’s immense riches derived from slave labour – the pre-industrial equivalent of machine-led profitability – does not seem to have been a worry.


The atmosphere on board became thicker and thicker with antagonism between Clovis and the captain, who lusted after Aline. She was an extraordinarily direct and appealing person, as we see from Gauguin’s portrait. Slightly built, dark-haired and dark-eyed, Aline never lost a sense of self-worth and self-determination, despite being abused by her father and having spent her childhood parked in institutions.


While her mother had been out saving the world, Aline had been left in the guardianship of the novelist George Sand, who didn’t much like Flora but took her duties towards the child Aline sufficiently seriously to keep an eye on her development from a distance. A fiercely independent spirit, Aline’s qualities of candour, receptiveness and optimism made her devastatingly attractive to the rough, tough sea captain, who pursued Aline openly, to the impotent fury of Clovis. They could hardly settle the matter in the usual way: a duel on board guaranteed awkward consequences.


After two and a half months at sea, they reached Tierra del Fuego at the southernmost tip of Chile, a region of terrible arctic beauty where the Albert had to thread through the intricate glacier-sheared channels of the Straits of Magellan. At last, they were to be allowed to go ashore, albeit briefly, during the ship’s re-provisioning at the ominously named Port Famine. Aline bundled the children into almost all their clothes at once, excitement fuelled by the godforsaken landscape of snow-capped mountains rising from ice-encrusted shores thick with animals they had never seen before: thousands of penguins moving in blocks like sinister armies of little men, doe-eyed seals bobbing up unexpectedly between blobs of sea-ice like floating meringues. Overhead flew enormous birds with huge wingspans and terrifying claws, albatrosses and petrels, large enough to pick up little Paul and carry him away. The stench of guano was all-pervasive. As Clovis followed them down to the jollyboat that was to row them ashore, he had a heart attack, and died. He was aged thirty-five.


Mercantile interest permitted no delay. The very day of Clovis’s death, a pickaxe split the icy, stony ground, and a hasty cross was raised. The following day, the Albert sailed on.


Aline never recounted how she survived the next month on board, but in November 1849, she and the children disembarked at Puerto del Callao, the port serving Lima. Postcards show it looking reassuringly similar to a European port, complete with ornamental railings all along the quay to stop people from falling in, an efficient-looking unloading system, a recently landscaped park whose palm trees were still in their infancy, and the whole area safely lit by triple-armed gasoliers. Nothing, in short, to frighten Aline, pretty and widowed and alone as she was.


Not all families welcome a distant relative come to lay claim to an inheritance, but the family Tristán-y-Moscoso was used to enacting huge dramas on the world stage. The appearance of an heiress-claimant was merely a diverting subplot in the grand sweep of a family history that had been entwined with that of Peru since its discovery by Spain. Proudly they traced themselves back to Pope Alexander VI, Rodrigo Borgia (1431–1503), author of the papal bull awarding the country to the king of Spain. The very epitome of papal gangster guile, Pope Alexander was reputedly one of Machiavelli’s models for The Prince.
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The bloodline flowed down to the Tristán-y-Moscosos through the pope’s son, Juan Borgia, who was murdered before he could achieve as much notoriety as his better-known siblings, Cesare and Lucrezia Borgia. Next came a saint: Saint Francisco Borgia y Aragón (1510–72). After him, Francisco de Borja y Aragón, prince of Squillace and viceroy of Peru under King Philip III of Spain. Four or five generations passed while the family built up fabulous wealth in Peru on the backs of their thousands of African slaves, who worked their extensive sugar plantations, hewed silver from their mines and hacked out their great stinking hillocks of guano, super-fertile bird droppings accumulated over hundreds of years. Sugar, silver, guano: all were sent back to the Old World at massive profit.


The inheritance Aline was claiming came down from her grandfather, Flora’s father, Mariano Tristán-y-Moscoso. He was now dead but Aline was petitioning his brother, her great-uncle, the magnificent Don Pío Tristán-y-Moscoso, current head of the august dynasty. Don Pío had done his stint as viceroy of Peru. Now retired, his influence still spiderwebbed out over thousands of acres and thousands of human beings: slaves, business contacts, political connections, and an extensive family network built on generations of influential marriages. Gauguin was eighteen months when he came to live under the roof of his great-great-uncle Don Pío, and seven and a half years old when he left. To him the Don seemed an ancient, awesome, magical and eternal repository of power, a Prospero ruling over a tropical Illyria.


‘Give me a child until he’s seven and I’ll show you the man,’ said the Jesuits.


‘I have a remarkable visual memory and I recall this time in my life,’ said Gauguin.5


To observe him walking with his small hand in Don Pío’s great paw was to see history spooling backwards and forwards. Both were strong, sturdy, tough, never tall, dark-haired, blue-eyed and highly sexed. Don Pío would not have bothered with Aline if she had not been a pretty ornament to his male pride. She immediately became a favourite great-niece. He liked having her around, and so he kept her and the children living the luxurious life of the dependent extended family for years, prolonging the pleasure of having these three charming and decorative relatives under his thumb, with no intention ever of paying out the inheritance.


It was a Rousseauian childhood. Peru didn’t care much about educating children of either sex. Gauguin ran free within the annual cycle of the stately progression of the extended family, following the seasons between Don Pío’s profitable estates in Arequipa: a wild region dominated by the white cone of the Misti volcano, snow-topped and smoking. The silver mines, doubly harsh with the smell of metal and the sweat of slaves. The sugar plantation where curlicue snakes ringleted the canes. But they spent the majority of their time in Don Pío’s main residence and power base in the capital, Lima, a prototype Spanish colonial city dominated by a double-towered neo-Castilian baroque cathedral rising scornfully above a weary mass of brown, low-crouched adobe houses waiting for the next earthquake that would inevitably flatten them again. On the far horizon, the white zigzag of the Andes sporadically washed the sky red with the eruption of a distant volcano.


They lived with Don Pío in a house on the Calle de Callos (now Avenida de la Emancipación) that had been built for one of Pizarro’s conquistadores. A low street frontage of massive, rusticated stone blocks lent it the air of a fortress topped by a high line of heavily barred, balconied windows where ladies could take the air while remaining invisible. Its long façade stretched like a sleeping dragon along the whole length of a city block. Behind it, a complex warren of internal courtyards and dark passages had grown organically to meet the family’s needs over the centuries. As a result, there was plenty of room to slot Aline and the children into the palace and into the hierarchy.


They lived in luxury, looked after by their own personal slaves. It was a life of theatre and of contrasts, of long dark passages bursting into light from clustered constellations of candles in silver candlesticks as high and heavy as a man. Formal meals were taken at a shiny table with lines of white napkins folded in cones, like a miniature range of the snowy Andes volcanoes. Gauguin loved it that when he stepped the short step to the cathedral to say his prayers surrounded by veiled women caressing large rosaries with voluptuous agility, he was preceded by an African slave girl carrying the rug on which he was to kneel. No difference was made between such operatic high ritual and utter carelessness. The same girl was his chief companion and mischief-maker when they played out in the hot dust of the street with the local children, who went naked except for Sundays in church when both sexes were dressed in a square apron. ‘I still see our street with the chickens pecking among the refuse.’6 His descriptions of these years seem detached and hallucinatory. He recounts them not as a child who was developing a personality and talents and interests. We have no idea, for instance, whether he ever read a book, or whether he even could read. Did he pick up a pencil, or draw with his finger in the dust? He writes and speaks about none of these things at all. Nor whether he thought about anything, or looked at anything with the unusual attentiveness that is credited to the eye of the artist. Most autobiographical fragments insert prophetic signposts, keenly nurturing legends of their own precocity, but Gauguin only recounts his childhood as a series of strange dreamlike experiences. Later, he would refer to his art as ‘the dream’ and he would always scorn people who elevated the realm of sight above the mysterious realm of thought and memory.


‘In those days in Lima, that delicious country, where it never rains, the roofs were terraces and if there was a lunatic in the household, he would be kept on the terrace, fastened by a chain to a ring, and the owner of the house or the tenant was obliged to provide them with a certain amount of very simple food. I remember that once, my sister . . . and I, who were sleeping in a room, the open door of which gave on to an inner court, were awakened and saw opposite us the madman climbing down the ladder. The moon lit the court. Not one of us dared to utter a word. I saw and I can still see the madman enter our room, glance at us, and then quietly climb up again to his terrace.’7


Beneath his bed, his chamber pot was of solid silver. It was emptied for him by slaves. He slept beneath a superb portrait of Don Pío, whose eyes seemed to watch him. One night the eyes actually moved. No surprise this, in a place of improbable happenings, but on this occasion the reason was a mild earthquake. He experienced a bigger one in the port of Iquique where the earth began to writhe and dance and he saw parts of the town crumble and the waves play with the ships as if they were balls tossed by a racquet.8 The resulting tidal wave behaved as impressively as the wrath of God, picking up a huge trading brig and dashing it to destruction on the rocks.


Slavery had nominally been abolished in Peru in 1821 (in Britain 1833, in the USA 1865). Abolition did not take meaningful effect in Peru until 1854, halfway through Gauguin’s seven-year sojourn. The emancipation of slaves led to a shortage of labour for the great estate-owners like Don Pío, but as they were enjoying a boom moment, thanks to the European passion for guano, they could afford to pay wages, and the problem was solved by immigration schemes to tempt Chinese labourers. Gauguin became very fond of his Chinese servant, ‘so clever at ironing’, who understood him well and rescued him from all sorts of scrapes; ‘He was the one who found me in a grocery-shop, sitting between two barrels of molasses, busily sucking sugar cane while my weeping mother was having them search for me everywhere. I have always had a fancy for running away . . .’9


We don’t learn anything at all about Gauguin’s sister Marie from his memoir, or much about his extended family, even though one of his cousins became president of Peru during his stay, exalting their exalted status even higher. But only two people really existed for him: Don Pío, the despot who ruled over this vividly appealing world, and his mother. The women of Peru fascinated him. Young as he was, he observed how his mother behaved here, compared to her behaviour later when they went back to France. The Lima of those times rejoiced in the reputation of being ‘the heaven of women, the purgatory of husbands and the hell of asses’.10 Aline led the slow, odalisque life of her female relations. Rising late, she would decorate her hair with heavily scented flowers, sprigs of orange blossom or jasmine, before a long and leisurely breakfast yielded to a gossipy siesta taken in a hammock or on a day bed in the company of the other ladies while they smoked a leisurely cigar or sniffed snuff, pleasures that would lose a lady her reputation if she were seen enjoying them in public.


There was nowhere on earth where women were freer, observed Gauguin’s beloved grandmother Flora Tristan who, as we know, was keen on women’s freedom. She compared Lima to Paris in the days of Louis XV. Sensuality reigned.11 The all-pervasive atmosphere of voluptuousness owed much to the saya y manto, the ultra-modest pre-Columbian Peruvian costume which the conquistadores had bundled their ladies into, and which their descendants still adopted if they wanted to pass incognito. The saya was a stiff silk skirt reaching right down to a pretty pair of embroidered slippers. The manto was a veil of thick black silk, fastened to the saya at the waist and drawn closely over the face leaving a small triangular space for just one eye to peep out.


This costume not only changed a woman’s appearance but even her voice sounded different as her mouth was covered. Unless she had some outstanding characteristic, such as being unusually tall, or short, or stout, it was impossible to recognise her. In Peru’s oppressive patriarchal society, women took advantage of the all-concealing costume to arrange intrigues and assignations beneath the noses of husbands. ‘How graceful and pretty my mother was when she put on her Lima costume,’ Gauguin remembered, ‘the silk mantilla covering her face and allowing the glimpse of only one eye: an eye so soft and so imperious, so pure and caressing.’12


Aline did not adopt the saya y manto in order to conduct intrigues, rather to pass quietly and anonymously, undisturbed. She was constantly dodging Don Pío, who could hardly conceive of relating to a woman, even a great-niece, without sex involved. Aline had had enough of that after her father.


Aline was not an artist, but she had fine artistic taste and independent judgement. She saw beauty and interest in the remnants of the indigenous culture around her, and she was curious about the art and mythology of the conquered people. Her attitude was in strong contrast to the whole identity of the colonial society she moved in, which was based on racism and exploitation and taking great pride in ignorance of what it had crushed. Colonial superiority was bound up with the suppression of native culture, which it branded as savage, barbaric and inferior to anything European. Importation equalled prestige. Don Pío went about in a chocolate-soldier mock-Spanish uniform, his floor tiles came from Italy, and he hung generic beaux arts pictures on his walls. The Inca god Amaru meant nothing to Don Pío and his fellows, though they probably knew the proper name of every centaur that had clip-clopped through Arcadia’s classical meadows.


As Aline rode out on horseback in the countryside around Lima, and as she moved in the family’s semi-royal progress from one great estate to another, she could not help but come across the ruins and remnants of temples, villages and grave complexes that scattered the plains. Gold and jewellery had long ago been looted but pottery and carvings and figurines, being of no apparent worth, still lay about. Learning of her interest, locals brought her pieces for sale. Aline began a collection that would have enormous influence on Gauguin’s art, particularly the Moche pieces, dating from ad 100 to ad 800. Many Moche vessels recall ancient Greek pottery in that they are storytelling pieces, painted with the doings of gods and men, often recording heroic battles and the grisly doom of the defeated. The vessels are much thicker and clumsier than the Greek, but painted with great vivacity, and in the same colours: cream and black and terracotta.


The Moche also depicted the gods and the mythology of their vanished civilisation in their sculpted vessels and figures. Strange and mysterious idols, disturbing apparitions, mythical creatures, hybrids half-man half-animal, anthropomorphised plants, copulating couples, sun discs incised with incomprehensible symbols, winged messengers, feathered warriors, corncobs with human faces, effigy jugs in the shape of human heads. The whole pantheon that had come dancing out of the wild imaginings of the Moche while they were striving to make religious sense out of life and death rooted itself in Gauguin’s unconscious. ‘I have the sensation of something endless of which I am the beginning,’ he wrote. He would create his own original symbolism through the Peruvian mythology, which was so much more meaningful and resonant to him than the overused tropes of classical and biblical symbolism that had dominated Western art down the centuries. The dog that sometimes trots into his canvases is the dog that accompanied the Moche mythological heroes on their adventures; it symbolises the anarchy of the everyday, as well as the larger anarchy of fatalistic outcomes. He uses the Moche fox warrior as an alter ego, his subconscious self, his Dionysian impulse, his animal self. Often it stands for lust: sometimes his own, sometimes other people’s.
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Peruvian Moche fox warrior jug, c. AD 100–800
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Gauguin, The Loss of Virginity, 1890–1




Seven years passed. Day followed day in an endless, agreeable, dreamlike mañana as Don Pío fobbed Aline off with a shopping allowance while never granting her the legacy that would assure independence for her and the children. But then, in 1855, Aline received a letter from her father-in-law, Clovis’s father, Guillaume Gauguin. He had now reached the age of seventy, and he felt himself growing old. He wrote to say that he would like to see his grandchildren Paul and Marie before he died. The letter included the information that the children would inherit half his wealth and his bachelor brother Zizi would inherit the other half. Guillaume Gauguin was a hard-working, comfortably off petit bourgeois living in the city of Orléans, south of Paris. He owned a modest estate with some houses and small vineyards and a considerable amount of first-class agricultural land where he ran a thriving market garden business. Hardly the wealth of kings, but this was a legacy that promised to materialise, and also promised some sort of independent future.


Aline didn’t have much to pack up other than her fine collection of pre-Columbian artefacts to take back to France.


Early in 1855, they arrived.


Now he must live on a river plain in a northern French provincial city noted for its high rainfall. He must learn to speak French. He must walk grey pavements, and go to school. But through all the long years of his domestication he never lost sight of the sense that ‘I is another’, never ceased to yearn for the lost beatitude, the harsh, primitive place which had given him what he referred to as ‘the dream’, an enduring vision of a spiritual world pervading the material world: the place he would seek all his life, and would believe he had found when he at last reached Tahiti.










2: ‘I AM A SAVAGE FROM PERU’



In his memory it had never rained in Peru. In ghost-grey Orléans it seemed to rain incessantly. The family wealth that he had been brought back to France to inherit was entirely dependent on the rain that he so disliked, watering the regimented rows of Grandfather Guillaume’s crops growing either side of the great river Loire that ran frothing and furling through the family fields.


Once the glorious capital of Merovingian kings, Orléans had now sunk so low as to be described in a contemporary encyclopedia as ‘of lifeless appearance’, a description borne out by a watercolour (Orléans, Loire Valley, c.1826–8) by J. M. W. Turner, who set up his easel on the Quai Neuf (now the Quai de Prague) where Gauguin lived between the ages of seven and fourteen in his grandfather’s house, 25 Quai Neuf. It was a grand but dreary view that Turner painted and Gauguin looked out on during those slow seven years of his life. Gloomy and glaucous; mostly river and sky. Unlike many of his contemporary painters – Monet and Degas, for example – Gauguin would never turn out obsessive skyscapes capturing the fleeting architecture of clouds, or studies of the changing tonalities of water. Maybe he’d had enough of involuntary observation during those years. The overwhelming impression of the view from the Quai Neuf is a monochrome wash: the colour of the Orléans sky, be it blue, dun or yellow-grey, reflected monotonously on the surface expanse of river, here a quarter of a mile wide. The city on the far bank cuts across the general tonality in a low, horizontal line of sepia stone buildings culminating, on the right-hand side, in the two great square-topped towers of the Gothic cathedral. From this angle the towers appear to squat on top of Orléans’s famous bridge, the Pont Royal, running at an angle across the river in a line of depressed arches of the same yellow-grey stone.


For one used to mountains, earthquakes and snow-topped volcanoes, palaces where monkeys ran wild, and streets where rowdy vultures fought every evening over discarded kitchen offal there was little excitement to stir the soul. The French family whose name he bore boasted nothing grand.1 Unlike the Tristán-y-Moscosos, the Gauguins claimed no distinguished ancestry, and their present members were unambitious. Aesthetic, cultural and psychological issues were of no importance. What mattered was that the family name should be well respected within the solid, bourgeois community. Politically, they were as libertarian and republican as Gauguin’s father, Clovis, had been: strongly against the tiresome and economically destabilising periodic power-grabs between the Bourbon and Napoleonic dynasties.


Gauguin’s forebears had settled on the southern side of the river Loire before it became commercially developed. A loose network of cousins based themselves in the neighbourhood of Saint-Marceau, where the extended family seems to have been thoroughly decent and co-operative, helping each other out and occasionally intermarrying, living the intertwined, middle-class life that is the stuff of Balzac’s novels, but seemingly without succumbing to the guzzling greed and venality that Balzac saw as underlying the human condition. Grandfather Guillaume had started as a shopkeeper in a small grocery store and had grown the business into an agricultural empire whose headquarters were two good houses on the Quai Neuf. The houses stood back-to-back, one facing the river and the other looking out on to the street; the space in between was occupied by one of Guillaume’s commercial market gardens. This placed his business ideally for trade: boats tied up at the quay just outside the riverside house to collect the agricultural produce and deliver it to the big markets in Blois and Paris. Records show a week in February 1844 when 197 boats docked here with cargo valued between 12 and 13 million francs.2 Ten years later, when Gauguin came to live here, boat traffic had been dented by the arrival of the railway, but this only meant increased capacity for trade, allowing Grandfather Guillaume’s cornucopia to pour into Paris more speedily as the city’s population increased. For little Paul, newly arrived in Orléans, the lovely by-product of the switch to rail was that fewer boats on the Loire meant more fun for seven-year-old him. He and his sister Marie, who was now eight years old, experienced the childish joys of inexpert fishing with a string tied to a stick, paddling in the shallows, and mudlarking on the sandy banks of the river.


They were sent to the local school. He hated the whole thing. It was horrible to walk to school with his body crammed into a thick winter coat so he couldn’t move freely, and when he arrived everybody was speaking French, and he couldn’t understand what they were saying. Language learning was unusually difficult for Gauguin. It came much more easily and quickly to Marie. Despite being by far the most widely travelled of the Impressionist and Post-Impressionist painters, Gauguin was no natural polyglot. He always said that he felt happier and more at home speaking Spanish than French.


The family had been installed only a few months when Grandfather Guillaume died. He left his wealth divided equally: half to Paul and Marie, the children of his dead son Clovis; half to his living son Isidore, known as Zizi.


Uncle Zizi was unmarried and childless; he was to share guardianship of the children with their mother until they came of age. Aline was not, strictly speaking, a blood relation, so it was proper that she should not receive any material property, but Grandfather Guillaume was a kind and thoughtful man and his will granted her the usufruct from her children’s portion. This meant that she could enjoy the profit from the land and the rental from the few agricultural cottages they inherited, but it did not make her rich, as the business and the vineyard gobbled up most of the profits in salaries and reinvestment, and the cottages ate most of their rents in repairs. Nevertheless, Aline had been left the wherewithal to lead a decent and modest life in a fine house while bringing up the children.


Shortly after this, Don Pío died in Peru. He had doted on Aline and left her the princely sum of 25,000 francs in his will.3 The Tristán-y-Moscoso family refused to honour the legacy, offering her a much smaller sum which she was too proud and too angry to accept. After this, she refused to have anything more to do with her Peruvian family. She severed the connection so completely that later in life when Gauguin was serving in the French merchant marine and the winds of fate blew his ship into the port of Iquique, which he knew well from childhood visits to the family property nearby, he made no attempt to contact his cousins. Aline must have been bitter indeed to have had this effect on her son, who based his lifelong perception of himself on the self-mythologising words, ‘I am a savage from Peru.’ He tells us he said them first at the age of seven at his Orléans school, where he felt himself disconnected, culture-shocked, isolated, misunderstood and purposeless. His teachers and fellow pupils found him touchy, inarticulate, rough and quick to take offence. When anyone made him feel stupid, helpless or inferior he would say threateningly, ‘I am a savage from Peru’, and he would continue to do the same throughout his life if he felt himself cornered, scorned, threatened or belittled. At school he is not recorded as following up the words with his fists or his feet, as he sometimes did in adult life, but the words were enough to position him in his own mind as an outsider, and push him into the same cold, excluded space in the minds of others.


The frustrating inability to make himself understood stands out as the strongest sentiment that Gauguin associates with this French part of his childhood. ‘I was beginning to speak French, and I suppose, because I was in the habit of speaking Spanish, I pronounced all the letters with affectation.’4 This did not endear him to his schoolmates. Nor did his physical aspect. Gauguin was small for his age, but he was broad, swarthy and strong. When he looks back on this time, he concludes that his isolation caused him to analyse himself to a degree that is unusual at such an early age; he was continually watching himself, judging himself and feeling dissatisfied with himself, hounded by an existential discomfort he didn’t understand. Self-judgement more often makes for self-condemnation than self-congratulation, and when Uncle Zizi looked out of the window, he observed an angry and unhappy child. Zizi used to watch him stomping round the garden by himself, occasionally snatching up handfuls of earth and flinging them about furiously. When Zizi asked him, ‘Well, little Paul, what’s the matter with you?’ he just stamped his foot all the harder and said, in his inadequate French, ‘Baby is naughty!’


In contrast to the financial shenanigans following the death of Don Pío, Grandfather Guillaume’s estate was settled calmly and undisputatiously. Uncle Zizi took up residence in the big house facing the road while Aline and the children lived in the better one that looked over the river. They quickly became very fond of Uncle Zizi. By trade, he was a goldsmith and a jeweller. It seems strange that this aspect of the man made no impression on Gauguin. For an artist who also became a renowned sculptor, one would expect Gauguin to be excited by the goldsmith’s workshop: one thinks of Benvenuto Cellini’s classic description of his own workshop as a violent and physical place, an alchemist’s laboratory where flaming fire was reflected in gilded puddles and husky leather-aproned workmen forged and fired and chased and beat the metal into submission. But Gauguin never talks about it. Uncle Zizi features in Gauguin’s memoirs as a small and kindly man who told him stories; he is the mouthpiece of family memory and legend. When Gauguin writes about his childhood, he deliberately shapes the stories at one remove from himself, by making Uncle Zizi the framing device: ‘My good uncle in Orléans, whom we called Zizi because his name was Isidore and he was very small, told me . . .’5


On the wall at Uncle Zizi’s hung a picture that held a special fascination for Gauguin: an engraving with the title The Merry Wayfarer picked out in large, ornamental lettering. The picture was an undistinguished descendant of the image that had captivated the Romantic Age, when Caspar David Friedrich’s Wanderer above a Sea of Fog (1818) had spawned a whole genre depicting the introspective misfit hero alone in an apocalyptic landscape seething in some form of extreme weather convulsion. The key to the universal appeal of the icon lay in the depiction of nature as a vehicle of terror, and the hero always being seen from behind. He has no face and so we imagine ourselves into him, as he confronts the turbulent elemental caprices that hold a mirror to the Sturm und Drang within the wanderer’s – and our own – troubled soul and intellect. While establishing the glory of individualism, the picture also raised the question of the consequences of introspection, desolation and solitude when magnified to a universal degree. The dangerously anarchic character of a society made up of a lot of fully realised introspective individuals can only be imagined.


By the time that affordable pictures inspired by The Wanderer had become popular in bourgeois homes such as Uncle Zizi’s, its message had been considerably diluted. The picture that young Gauguin enjoyed looking at depicted a hopeful boy with a bundle on his back, setting out on a path that meandered between soft, mazy meadows towards a promising horizon. Friedrich’s lonely and disconnected figure had morphed from a disturbing portrayal of interior desolation into a bright and bland symbol of youth setting out on the winding path of life through a landscape where the sun always shines. When Gauguin was nine, he decided to follow the merry wayfarer’s example. Uncle Zizi had already observed and noted the boy’s agitated relationship to the soil in the garden and now the little boy filled a handkerchief with garden soil, tied its corners, hung it on a stick, put the stick over his shoulder and set out towards the forest of Bondy, a legendary haunt of bandits and robbers. The missing boy was discovered at evening time, not, this time, by his personal servant, but by a kindly local butcher who took his hand and led him home. Later, he liked to tell the story as a droll tale against himself, concluding with the rueful observation that it was mighty dangerous to give in too easily to the power of art.


Like her son, Aline found life in Orléans unexciting. In 1859, when she was thirty-four, Gauguin was aged eleven and old enough to be sent away to boarding school. This might sort out her strong-willed misfit son, while at the same time liberating her for a last shot at an exciting and independent life. Aline was still frightened of her father. André Chazal’s crazy vengeance fantasies had not decreased during the eighteen years he had served in prison for his crime. He had been released in 1856 but he was not permitted to travel to Paris and so she felt safe to go there to try her luck as a seamstress. She decided to take Marie with her and leave Gauguin to board at a school near Orléans, where Uncle Zizi could keep an eye on him.


Le Petit Séminaire de la Chapelle Sainte-Mesmin was a religious seminary some four miles downriver from Orléans, set in a famously beautiful, landscaped park in a wide loop of the river Loire. Founded in 1816, the Petit Séminaire was part of the right-wing post-Napoleonic push to take France back to pre-Revolutionary values by reinstating Church and State as twin pillars of society. An ambitious example of militant Catholicism, the Séminaire was a neo-Louis Quatorze colossus, half-palace, half-barracks, arranged in the shape of a hollow rectangle with four uniform, four-storey wings. The only inkling of spiritual purpose was the stuck-on-looking spire of the chapel.


Hundreds of priests, intended to revive the Roman Catholic Church in France, were trained at the Petit Séminaire alongside the boys receiving an education from the age of eleven upward. Gauguin slept in a dormitory of forty boys, and though he was subject to all the peculiar miseries of institutionalism, the education he received was far less reactionary than would be expected.


While the Petit Séminaire had been founded to uphold conservative values, it was, during Gauguin’s time, the most progressive educational institution in France. It was under the dynamic leadership of Monseigneur Félix Dupanloup, cardinal of the Roman Catholic Church and Bishop of Orléans.6 A swarthy, spare, charismatic man with a hawk-like profile and a restless brain, Dupanloup’s passionate purpose as an educationalist was to destroy all traditions that merely confirm assumption. There was to be an end to the despotic transmission of knowledge by rote and regurgitation. The purpose of education, as Dupanloup saw it, was the liberation of the individual fully to develop the self through the questioning and subsequent application of knowledge.


Gauguin entered the Petit Séminaire in 1859, the year Darwin upended universal assumptions.7 Dupanloup, both a churchman and a scientist, had already got to grips with Lamarck’s pre-Darwinian evolutionary ideas and so Gauguin arrived, most unusually, at a place where the question of religion in relation to the exact sciences had already been fought and settled in the mind of the school’s director. Dupanloup found it perfectly possible to exist in the modern world as a rationalist Christian. Religion provided a theory of how scientific knowledge was possible. He was convinced that to connect fully with the infinite potential of knowledge, each individual must feel free to examine their own religious faith as critically as they examined any other subject, including scientific theory. However, he also firmly believed that scholarly self-realisation was divinely nurtured. Ergo, it was inevitable that the scholar would conclude that he could only progress through simultaneous rational and religious fulfilment.


When the problems raised by evolutionism became acute for the Catholic Church, Dupanloup was among those summoned to thrash out the issue in Rome. Predictably, the debate resulted in the rejection of evolutionism, support of creationism, and the establishment of the doctrine of papal infallibility. This was totally unacceptable to Dupanloup who took the elegant way out, leaving Rome the evening before the promulgation of the papal decree of infallibility. This might have led to excommunication, but Pope Pius IX was in no position to take draconian steps against the Frenchman. The pope only remained in the Vatican thanks to the protection of a French garrison who defended him throughout the internal battles raging over Italy’s unification. In France, Dupanloup was a revered figure, one of the forty intellectual ‘Immortals’ of the French Académie, also the only bishop to sit in the French National Assembly, where he wielded both religious and secular influence while devoting himself to the idealistic experiment of reforming French education. He fought hard for equal educational opportunities for girls and for the retention of the Classics at the heart of French education. For this he was accused of promoting the renaissance of paganism, a charge which he only aggravated by revolutionising the teaching of Classics. It was customary to teach Latin and Greek using passages of the Bible translated into those languages but Gauguin and his fellow pupils at the Petit Séminaire were taught from the original texts: from Greek tragedies and Roman histories. This gave Gauguin a far wider knowledge of the classical world than most of his contemporaries, leading to a fluency in cross-cultural historical connectivity that he would freely reference in his pictures.


But however liberal Gauguin’s education was within the contemporary context, it could by no means be described as secular. He and his thirty-nine dormitory companions were woken at five o’clock every morning for prayers, the first of nine offices throughout the day. Between prayers came lessons and meals, taken to the accompaniment of a sermon or a Bible reading, under a huge reproduction of Leonardo’s Last Supper.


In his memoir, Gauguin does not dwell on his schooldays, as he does on his days in Peru. He does not anecdotalise them. He tells us what matters to him: that, not finding work particularly difficult, he had no eagerness to learn. Science didn’t interest him much. He loved French literature. He could never be bothered to master the art of spelling correctly, but we see him misspelling in a beautifully flowing, legible handwriting entirely free from self-consciously artistic flourishes. He suggests that he was fundamentally disengaged because he was motivated by no special interest beyond the negative one of not going into the family fruit and vegetable business. He tells us he was bullied moderately, mostly because of his small size. When this happened, he would either put up his fists and blurt out the threat that he was a savage from Peru, or he would flatter his tormentor, naïvely believing that in so doing he was forming a real bond between the two of them. When this trust was betrayed, as it invariably was, he tells us he was always surprised.


Underlying his schooldays was hatred of mental and physical constraint: the constant feeling of oppression caused by the lack of freedom.


‘I won’t say . . . that this education did nothing for my mental development; on the contrary, I believe it did a good deal. Speaking broadly, I would say that it was here I learned at an early age to hate hypocrisy, false virtue and sneaking (semper tres!).’ He is referring to the school rule semper tres that stipulated pupils must go about in threes. One boy alone might become dangerously introverted, subversive and anarchistic. Two together might form an unsuitable bond. Three maintained an uneasy balance: each one spying on the other two. In this, Dupanloup’s Séminaire was anticipating the watchful principle that would make Communist cells so effective.


‘I learned to distrust everything that was opposed to my instinct, my heart, and my reason . . . I acquired the habit of concentration and of continually watching my teachers’ game.’ His years at the Séminaire grew a mistrust of ‘civilised’ establishments but, against this, he valued the fact that the school had given him the revelatory gift of empirical thinking. The rest of his life he would take nothing on trust, but question everything. Dupanloup’s example had taught him to see all established suppositions as a challenge to the intellect and this, in due course, would lead him to challenge the whole canon upon which the idea of white Western ‘civilised’ assumptions was founded, so that on his arrival in Tahiti, one of the first pictures he painted, Ia orana Maria (Hail Mary, 1892), showed a brown-skinned Tahitian Virgin Mary carrying a brown-skinned Tahitian Christ child. When shipped back for exhibition in France, the image shocked the white-skinned world accustomed, however illogically, to a white-skinned Holy Family. Gauguin’s iconoclastic disruption of established expectations such as this was all the more disturbing for the fluency with which he could reference the entire Christian and classical canon while provocatively breaking its taboos.


The Christian catechism is a system of explaining beliefs using a list of questions and answers. In response to Darwin, and in order to equip his pupils with souls sufficiently ‘virile’ to withstand the challenges raised by evolutionism, Dupanloup composed a catechism that included the questions: ‘Where do we come from? What are we? Where are we going?’8 Thirty-two years after Gauguin left the Petit Séminaire, when he was contemplating suicide in 1897, he painted the strange haunting masterpiece that he called his ‘testament’. The biggest picture he ever painted, measuring some 1.4 metres by 3.5 metres, it is his serious attempt at a big statement about the meaning of life. Mythic and monumental, it draws on an interweaving of Polynesian, classical and Christian references. He titled the picture Where Do We Come From? What Are We? Where Are We Going?


Gauguin was forty-nine when he painted it, and still he was recollecting the existential questions that Dupanloup had raised in his mind when he was a boy. In the intervening years, Gauguin had put a great ocean between himself and Europe as he sought an alternative to a ‘civilised’ world whose religious sensibility was founded on guilt following mankind’s expulsion from the Garden of Eden for the sin of eating from the tree of knowledge. Looking to reconnect with prelapsarian Eden in Polynesia, he had discovered beauty, luxuriance, mystery, sensuousness and lack of existential guilt, but all this still left him searching for the answer to Dupanloup’s three questions in one: the great question of meaning.










3: THE OUTSIDER



In 1862, Aline removed Gauguin from the Petit Séminaire and sent for him to join her and his sister Marie in Paris, where Aline was trying to make ends meet as a dressmaker.


When fourteen-year-old Gauguin arrived, the Second Empire had been in full swing for a decade. Louis Napoleon had turned Paris into a symbol of flamboyant materialism, promiscuous pleasure and flagrant corruption, often referred to as the new Babylon, or even more damningly as ‘some American Babylon of the future’ ‘suffering from a moral indigestion brought on by debauchery’.1 The popular and successful writer Victor Hugo took on the role of Great Voice of Republicanism against the emperor, calling him among other things ‘the nocturnal strangler of liberty’. The emperor, all charm, responded with the autocrat’s customary smooth riposte that he was only departing from legality in order later to return to the rule of law. Observing that the emperor lied as other men breathed, Hugo fled to the island of Guernsey to uphold the cause of free speech. Here he wrote Napoléon le Petit, a swingeing critique of the regime, which he had printed up in a little book small enough to be smuggled back into France in knickers, prompting the formation of long inspection lines at the border and even strip searches.


‘I want to be a second Augustus because Augustus made Rome a city of marble,’2 declared Louis Napoleon and gave Georges-Eugène Haussmann carte blanche to sweep away the city’s medieval higgle-piggle and replace it with a clean-slate city vision of astonishing clarity and grandeur: the Paris we know today. Throughout the twenty years of the Second Empire, Haussmann flattened hills, drained noxious marshes, and diverted rivers to create long urban vistas of swaggering façades clad in pomp and Lutetian limestone. Rivalling the glories of Augustan Rome included making Paris into the most modern commercial city in the world, the new transport hub and centre of industrialising Europe. Government by decree enabled Louis Napoleon not only to impose an efficient road grid on the city but also to build six railway lines reaching out to touch all France’s international frontiers.


Many believed trains would arrive at stations bearing carriages full of corpses, it being impossible to breathe at such speeds, but Aline was no such sceptic. She delighted in taking the children for adventures on the train for fresh air and respite from the twenty-four-hour building-site racket of central Paris where, thanks to the new technology of electric arc lights, construction was taking place night and day. Added to this was the never-ending clatter-and-clack of the new fast-moving fiacres and double-decker horse-drawn omnibuses on Haussmann’s miles of freshly laid asphalt. Proust was not the only one to soundproof his rooms with cork lining. There was a passion for bicycles and knickerbocker bicycling suits. Paris knew itself the capital of luxury and fashion. The excitement of being in the vanguard of things endorsed a shift in perceptions of both time and space. The screeching revolution in transport came to symbolise modernity, as movement came to be seen as an end in itself. All was flux and change. The year Gauguin arrived in Paris, the Impressionists who were later to become his teachers – some friends, some enemies: Cézanne, Monet, Renoir, Sisley and Zola, who was a childhood friend of Cézanne and as much a painter as a writer until literary success overtook him – were first banding together to paint out of doors in the early stages of addressing the problem of how to capture the truth of the ever-changing object. How to lay down the eternal ephemerality of the moment on to a solid, static piece of material, a piece of paper or canvas? How truthfully to represent the uncertainly defined form, as you whizzed past it on your train or your bicycle and both you and the form you were trying to capture moved through the shifting planes of time, space and light? Eventually they arrived, more or less consensually, at a painterly vocabulary of short light-fragmenting brushstrokes to break up the concept of three-dimensionality as a smooth, solid continuity.


Haussmann openly admitted that one of the aims of modernising Paris was to stop further civil insurrection from breaking out in the dense pockets of working-class slums, which he flattened to give way to broad boulevards and avenues, enabling companies of soldiers to move swiftly to suppress uprisings. It was almost impossible for rioters to build their traditional barricades across such wide thoroughfares. This was city planning as political instrument. Haussmann himself estimated that the building programme displaced some 350,000 people. Public records indicate that 5,000 of them were registered prostitutes and another 30,000 unregistered ones. With their own districts like the Palais Royal destroyed, streetwalking girls now walked into respectable bourgeois neighbourhoods, bringing with them a sense of both social and moral confusion. ‘Prostitutes . . . are everywhere,’ noted the architect Charles LeCoeur in 1870, outraged that the work he was engaged in resulted in the invasion of sex workers into irreproachable bourgeois bastions; ‘the cafés-concerts, the theatres, the dance halls. One meets them in public establishments, railway stations and even railway carriages. They are there on all the footpaths, in front of most of the cafés. Late into the night they circulate in great numbers on all the finest boulevards, to the great scandal of the public . . .’3 Zola described the ‘jostling strangers and permissive language’ and the pervasive atmosphere of sexual possibility everywhere. ‘The wide pavement, swept by the prostitutes’ skirts and ringing with peculiar familiarity under the men’s boots, and over whose grey asphalt it seemed . . . that the cavalcade of pleasure and brief encounters was passing . . . awakening slumbering desires . . . the din of a city obsessed with the pursuit of pleasure.’4 This led Zola to name Paris ‘the complicitous city’, as he fancied the spongy amorality of its corrupt and disorderly construction seeping into the very bones of its citizens.


On arriving in Paris to set herself up as a seamstress, Aline had become part of the great mass of social displacement and confusion, part of the demimonde of women on the fringes of respectable life, making a living as best they could. ‘Thousands of floating existences – criminals and kept women – which drift about in the underworld of a great city’5 as Balzac wrote to Manet, recommending that the painter take this as the subject of his paintings, which indeed he did, reimagining the Venus of the Second Empire as a streetwalker in his notorious canvas Olympia, which was painted in 1863, the year after Gauguin arrived in Paris. Olympia was to hold overwhelming significance for Gauguin all his life. In 1891, he spent days in the Musée du Luxembourg trying to copy it; though he eventually gave up, this did not dismay him. Rather the opposite: to be unable to capture the magic only made the magic more alluring. Throughout his mature life, he would carry a photograph of the painting and pin it up on the walls of his studio wherever he happened to be in the world.


[image: ]


Édouard Manet, Olympia, 1863




Olympia lies on a white sheet, naked except for a rose behind her ear, a black ribbon round her neck, a bracelet on her wrist and pretty slippers on her feet. Looking like a girl who’s bitten every apple, she is waiting for her next client. If her hard, rather bored look does not tell you this, Manet lets you know. A black cat has jumped up on to her bed with its tail erect: a well-known symbol of promiscuous sex. This was by no means the first painting of a girl offering sex for sale, so why did it provoke such outrage? Manet was, by common consent, the contemporary artist most skilled in painting in the lushly tenebrous style of the most revered Old Masters, such as Rembrandt and Velázquez. He had exercised all that skill in placing Olympia in the traditional pose of an age-old classical composition that had come down, along with the whole idea of European civilisation, from antiquity. Giorgione had taken up the pose in Sleeping Venus (1510), Cranach in Reclining River Nymph (1518), Titian in Venus of Urbino (1538) Goya in Naked Maja (1797–1800) and Canova in Pauline Bonaparte as Venus Victrix (1805–8); these, and other similarly posed Venuses upheld an ideal of womanhood as the ennobling sex. Olympia pushed Venus off her pedestal: there she lay, a buyable object and pretty bored about it. Her black maid is trying to show her an enormous bouquet of flowers that some admirer or other has sent. She can’t be bothered to look at it. Instead, she looks us straight in the eye. ‘Qui paye y va,’ she seems to say; ‘Who pays, gets it’, famously the motto of La Païva, an expensive celebrity courtesan of the day. Olympia scandalised society. A guard was posted by the picture to prevent the public from mutilating it. Critics compared her body to a gorilla’s (it was the age of the swiping Darwinian anthropological insult). But the real issue was that Manet had skewered the rampant sexual hypocrisy of the time. Society could not bear the truth it saw about its own exploitative self, reflected in the unwavering stare of its victim.


Gauguin studied the picture for thirty years before he dared attempt his own updating of the timeless icon. Te Arii Vahine (The King’s Wife, 1896) gives us Gauguin’s Venus as an indigenous Polynesian. When they were exhibited, his Polynesian Venuses rocked Paris, challenging the entire conspiracy on which white civilisation depended: the silent compact of a comfortable continent to keep up pretence. To go to a Paris gallery and see on a wall a non-white body placed in the pose of a centuries-old white iconographical formula was every bit as controversial as Olympia’s challenge to Europe’s hypocritical moral code had been thirty years earlier. Looking forward, Gauguin’s deliberately provocative transpositions of Venus and the Virgin Mary from white to non-white might be compared to Chris Ofili’s The Holy Virgin Mary (1996) in which not only is the Virgin Mary black but part of her body, a breast, is moulded from elephant dung.


When Aline arrived in Paris, the number of seamstresses was smaller only than the approximately 35,000 prostitutes, and the similar number of women in domestic service. The borders between the three professions tended to be porous. Despite Bishop Dupanloup’s best efforts, girls’ education lagged far behind boys’, and when they left school their employment opportunities were laughable. The fortunate ones were supported by fathers or husbands; even so, we remember how Flora Tristan’s husband thought it acceptable to send Flora out to make money by prostituting herself when funds were low. The precarious plight of the single woman, a situation fully acknowledged by all, was made acceptable to the public conscience by romanticised, sentimentalised, popular stories like Dumas’s La Dame aux camélias, turned by Verdi into the tearjerking opera La traviata. Priapic promiscuity was greatly admired, but the Olympias, Violettas and Marguerites who were its victims were regarded as harlots who deserved their miserable fates. The fact was, it was impossible for a single woman to live decently without money of her own, or a male protector. Aline found hers in a financier named Gustave Arosa. However much Gauguin resented Arosa at the time, he would later write that he did not know how they would have survived without his support.


Enrichez-vous! Get rich quick! was the watchword of the Second Empire. Gustave Arosa was a very rich man indeed, thanks to the debt incurred in the reconstruction of Paris, so enormous that it was not fully paid off until 1929. Two family banks profited the most: Crédit Mobilier belonging to the Pereire brothers, and de Rothschild frères, founded by James de Rothschild, whose right-hand man was Gustave’s father, François-Ezéchiel Arosa. Aline probably met Gustave in his father’s house in Rue Laffitte, a few doors down from the Rothschilds, in a street of self-made millionaires where display was competitive and decoration unrestrained. Arosa had South American connections and he ran his opulent house like an embassy, where newly arrived Spaniards and South Americans left their cartes de visite on the butler’s silver tray, and profitable connections ensued. Liveried servants with cockaded hats guarded his porte cochère. His balconies were hoisted by bare-breasted dryads. Gods and goddesses sported across his pediments. Newfangled plate-glass windows gave glimpses into penumbral interiors where Venetian chandeliers scintillated like colossal suspended diamond brooches, and the glowing tips of cigars described orange arcs in the gloom beneath.


The Arosa fortune had been made from importing guano from Peru: those massive hillocks of seabird droppings that had been such a profitable export for Don Pío. The fertility of French fields increased miraculously beneath a layer of Peruvian guano. Aline’s protector, Gustave Arosa, was the younger of François-Ezéchiel Arosa’s two sons.


Born in 1818, Gustave Arosa was some seven years older than Aline. He was around forty-four when they met and she around thirty-six. Her photographs show her looking younger than her years. Willowy, dark-eyed, dark-haired, she followed an independent line of dressing in very simple lines, unlike the padded and frilled Second Empire fashionistas for whom she made dresses. Aline was (according to her grandson) ‘a proud and authoritative woman’6 of strong opinions who could be harsh when she felt she was in the right – as in matters of bringing up a troublesome son who was just as strong-willed as his mother – and in her feminist and libertarian political opinions inherited from her own mother, Flora Tristan. Aline loved literature. Keeping up with the latest books gave her an intellectual flexibility and openness to new ideas that reinforced her youthful air of candour and vulnerability. This appealed to Gustave Arosa, who also had a lively intellectual curiosity. Photographs show him looking extremely dashing, with a confident glance, noble forehead and wild black hair flying in random directions.7 He was a busy man living a comfortable life at the very centre of his city’s ebullient capitalist boom. A sophisticated boulevardier, elegant rather than flashy, he had long been married to a dark, solid-looking wife. They had two daughters. Gustave Arosa did not work in the bank but in the Paris stock exchange, the Bourse, the phantasmagoric money-go-round that fuelled Babylon’s boom time. Stocks and shares went up and down, fortunes were won and lost; Arosa took a percentage. But there was more to him than money. He was interested in all that was avant-garde, and a serious collector of the French artists at the cutting edge when Realism was tipping into Impressionism. Delacroix, Courbet and Pissarro hung on his walls, but he was no mere cheque-writer: when the artists found themselves with nowhere to turn, he had been known to lend them a house he owned in Montmartre. He also took an interest in the newish art of photography and was an avid collector of contemporary ceramics.


When Aline left Orléans, she had sold whatever she could to support her new life, but she brought with her to Paris the pre-Columbian collection from Peru. Maybe she could find no market for such alien-looking objects? It would be another sixty years before Picasso and Matisse ‘discovered’ socalled ‘primitive’ and ‘tribal’ art, making it fashionable and valuable. We know nothing about Aline and Arosa’s initial meeting, but it was certainly art, rather than his money, that lit the spark between them, as Aline had ‘the profoundest distrust of everything which had to do with money and business’. Gustave Arosa, a man of sensuality and ideas, was bewitched both by Aline and by her Peruvian pieces, whose sphinxian powers captured his imagination. He set out on a collecting spree, using his business connections to send to South America for an indiscriminate trawl of masks, ceramics, sculptures and figurines from the Cupisnique, Moche, Nazca and Inca cultures.8 He soon had the largest and most important collection of pre-Hispanic art in Paris. The relationship between Arosa and Aline must have been a great deal deeper and more satisfying than the usual married ‘protector’ and his mistress during this time of building the collection together.


Arosa set Aline up in business as a dressmaker in the Chaussée-d’Antin, the area which Balzac named ‘the beating heart of Paris’. It was the centre of everything new, expensive, fashionable and fun. The Bourse was here, Charles Garnier’s new opera house, and the Moulin Rouge, next door to a bedding emporium deliciously named the Springy Mattress. A few doors down from Aline’s shop at number 33 glowed the word Nadar written in tubular lighting. Scribbled neon signatures have been the stuff of artistic self-publicists ever since, but Nadar was the first. He was a tireless self-promoter who originated the role of the celebrity photographer, taking pictures of anybody who was anybody, from the Empress Eugénie to courtesans, criminals and the Impressionist painters. He was the first person to take an aerial photograph when he ascended over Paris in a hot-air balloon in 1858. He taught Arosa to take very creditable photographs and Arosa, whose mind never stopped at the surface of things, was interested in the technology as well as the art of photography. The two men together worked on the problem of producing good-quality, cheap and stable photographic reproductions that could be sold by the thousand. Jacques Offenbach lived in the area as he composed the risqué light operas that provided the soundtrack to the new Babylon. His Orpheus in the Underworld gave Paris the cancan. The Neapolitan café on the corner of the Rue de la Chaussée-d’Antin was the place where everybody met to drink absinthe. Aline had arrived in the very centre of urban spectacle and public chic, the heart, brain and body of the moment. The ideal location for a seamstress’s shop.


Dresses played an enormous part in the Second Empire. Women’s fashions have seldom been so exaggerated and embellished. Crinolines could reach 4.5 metres across, hats were rampant with slaughtered bird life, nipple-skimming décolletages acted as vitrines for spectacular jewels. Fashion was led by the Empress Eugénie and the famous courtesans. Photography meant that their outfits could be copied quickly and be displayed for sale behind the vast plate-glass windows of the newly invented department stores. The Second Empire is often cited as the birth of consumer culture, and it was the advent of the department store that saw the birth of shopping as an end in itself. Zola became so obsessed by the power and importance of clothes in society and their ability to whip up voracious and unsatisfiable desires fuelling cupidity, envy and narcissism, that he centred a whole novel, Au bonheur des dames (The Ladies’ Paradise), on a department store, using it as a microcosm of capitalist consumer culture and the changes it effected on the moral spectrum of society.


The dresses Aline made were beautiful things. Her atelier was the stuff of dreams. Silk and satin dresses susurrated swishily, sexily. Dresses hanging inanimate or casually flung down on a chair mimicked delicious curves as their whaleboning and padding lifted the bosom, stretched out the long waist and exaggerated the globed posterior. Aline’s workroom laid the foundation for Gauguin’s love of clothes and fabrics that was to play an important part in his paintings, as well as in the clothes he wore himself. Always look at the clothes in his pictures and notice what he himself is wearing in photographs or self-portraits. Fabrics and clothes are part of the narrative, sometimes subtext, sometimes counter-text or subversive suggestion. He enjoys the ways dress can be weaponised: as symbol, cultural reference, political statement, deception, disguise, as a tool to express power or protest, concurrence or camouflage. When he left Paris, and after Brittany had proved disappointing to him, and his dream of uncorrupted humanity had moved to Polynesia, he hoisted the pareu, a printed length of cotton, round his loins, much to the fury of the French officials who governed the islands in perfectly pressed Western suits, top hats and military uniform to reinforce the intimidatory power of the oppressor. On the occasions he came back to Paris from these wild places, he refused to clamber into conventional suit and tie but dressed as he felt inclined, raffishly, often in a Breton striped fisherman’s sweater or an embroidered shirt, a jacket with silver buttons and wooden clogs. Always clogs. He loved their defiant sound ringing out on smart pavements.


Paris provoked the teenage Gauguin to obstinacy. Taught to hate hypocrisy and false values by Bishop Dupanloup, the only teacher he had ever paid attention to, and whom he revered deeply for opening his eyes to human qualities and anti-materialist values, Gauguin disdained the new Babylon. He took to referring to it as ‘the Kingdom of Gold’. There was nothing he wanted here. And there was nothing it wanted of him. An awkward, underdeveloped fourteen-year-old boy of short stature, unpolished manners and an idealistic bent had no role, and nothing to contribute. His mother and sister found him naïve in the ways of the world. They called him ‘Petit Paul’ and treated him like a child. Marie was now sixteen, of marriageable age, looking for a husband and loving the glamorous life she had been catapulted into. She was sociable, confident, pretty, beautifully dressed and expert in bending people to her will. She tyrannised over both her mother and Paul who, helpless against her, retreated into the default position he had taken up at school – ‘I am a savage from Peru’. He behaved badly. He was rude and surly to his mother and to his sister, and to Arosa. In 1865, when Aline made a new will, she wrote into it the equivalent of a mother’s curse. Gauguin had made himself so unpopular with her entire circle of friends, she wrote, that if he carried on like this, he would ultimately have nobody left.9 Gauguin must have given Aline great pain for her to write such a thing, not knowing when or in what circumstances she would die, and her only son would read her terrible words. She must have wanted to hurt him very much.


The will confirmed Arosa as Gauguin’s legal guardian, the third to be appointed since the death of his father and the first who was not a blood relative, neither a Gauguin nor a Tristan. First, in Peru, Aline had entrusted the fatherless boy to the legal guardianship of José Rufino Enchenique, who was both Don Pío’s son-in-law and the president of Peru. Next, in Orléans, homely Uncle Zizi had embraced the role steadily and contentedly. Now she had appointed Gustave Arosa, a man completely unrelated to Gauguin. The symbolic break, the idea that his legal fate was in the hands of a man whose blood did not run in his veins, crumpled security and stamped on what little feeling of social belonging he possessed.


However, the relationship between Gauguin and Arosa was more complicated than one of motley resentment and Oedipal complexity. Arosa gave Gauguin the inestimable gift of opening his eyes to art. Some seventy-seven important paintings hung on the walls of Arosa’s splendid country house in Saint-Cloud where Aline and the children spent a great deal of time.


Busts stood on plinths; pictures were hung tightly frame-to-frame. Not for Arosa the fashionable favourites of the haute bourgeoisie, the erotic lollipops by Courtat and Bouguereau whose marzipan-sweet, creamy-fleshed female nudes, much given to swooning, Gauguin would good-humouredly characterise as ‘brothel art’. By contrast, Arosa’s tough collection contained an astonishing sixteen pictures by Eugène Delacroix, a painter unafraid of expressing the strongest political statement such as Liberty Leading the People (1830) and reinforcing his message by dramatic contrast in light and shade. Nine by Camille Corot, master of the Arcadian vision of serene ruralism. Seven by Gustave Courbet, creator and leader of ‘Realism’. Calm plein-air aperçus by Eugène Boudin. Savage political snarls by Honoré Daumier. Softly socialist pastorals by the Barbizon School and their associates, Antoine Chintreuil, Narcisse Diaz de la Peña, Henri-Joseph Harpignies, Johan Barthold Jongkind and Théodore Rousseau (not to be confused with Henri Rousseau, Le Douanier) presenting artistic as well as political challenges by rejecting a high degree of finish while hymning the dignity of the worker and the peasant life. Within the collection Octave Tassaert strikes an incongruous note with his highly finished apocalyptic allegories tending in subject matter towards mass orgies. We know all this because the catalogue still exists from the sale of Arosa’s collection in 1878.10 It is illustrated with high-quality photographs, taken either by Arosa or at his direction. Gauguin kept a copy of the catalogue for years.


The Arosa household was no stuffy museum, but an artistic, busy and dynamic home. Arosa’s younger daughter Marguerite spent her time sketching and painting and occasionally acting as model (clothed) for her father’s experimental photographs. Arosa occupied himself with photography, developing the collotype process and of course stockbroking. Aline was overseeing the growth of the pre-Hispanic collection and deriving satisfaction from watching her daughter absorb a social education. Marie was having a wonderful time wearing pretty dresses and learning to play the social game. Petit Paul was a problem. Surely this was a God-given opportunity for a future artist to study a treasure trove of pictures close by? But whatever he was noticing privately, he betrayed no sign of interest in art to anybody, certainly not to those who most wished him to do so: Aline and Arosa. Nor was he interested in anything else.


They decided he should go into banking, where they could start him off with every advantage. The heavy eyelids came down: he wanted to go to sea. They tried again. The chin came up: he wanted to go to sea.


Well, it would not be such a bad choice. The navy would surely succeed where they had failed: teach the young savage some manners, and discipline. But if he went to sea, it must be as an officer. Tiresome as the boy was, it was unthinkable that he should swab decks on his knees alongside every common Jack Tar. Naval officers were not far down the social ladder, they were well paid, and they led adventurous lives. The family enrolled Gauguin at the Loriol Institute, a naval preparatory school that specialised in getting students into military colleges. At the end of two years, if he passed the exam, he would go on to the École Navale, the elite naval college. Another exam at the end of that, and he would be free to adventure round the world to his heart’s content, having the corners knocked off him on the way.


The Loriol Institute brought pupils up to standard in the general curriculum as well as the specialist subjects required by future soldiers and sailors: algebra, trigonometry and navigation. Map-making and mechanical drawing constituted his first formal training in art. One imagines he might have become engaged by this, but he showed no sign, merely continuing to demonstrate his habitual resistance to authority.


‘All trained animals become stupid’11 was Gauguin’s considered opinion, and he had no intention of becoming a trained animal. The only place in the Loriol Institute he bothered to work was the fencing school. Officers carried a sword, and this was where they were taught to use it by Augustin Grisier, the legendary fencing master who instructed both the Czar of Russia and Alexandre Dumas who made him the central character of his novel Le Maître d’armes (1840–2). Gauguin adored the sport. He loved the psychology of the duel, the acrobatic drama, the balletic nuance. He wrote pages and pages about the art of fencing and how it taught him to scorn the blunt cudgel blow in favour of studying his adversary carefully during what he refers to as the dance (of death?) and finding satisfaction in misleading his adversary into believing he would do something entirely different to what he actually intended.12 Swordplay opened his eyes to the realisation that if you could combine control, stealth and subversion, this was by no means incompatible with being a tremendous swashbuckler. Fencing was ‘a game of chess’. The victor was he who had the sharpest wits and the longest endurance. It described the life struggle. Later in his life, Gauguin would be sought after as a fencing master.


Time came for the exam. He went to his mother and told her that he had no chance at all of passing. He simply hadn’t done the work. She was furious. Packed him off back to Orléans to board at the lycée for a year in a final effort, but by the end of the year he had studied so little that his teachers refused even to enter him for it.


Aged seventeen, he was unqualified for anything. Aline and Arosa arranged for him to join the merchant marine. Unlike the navy proper, the merchant marine had no snob value and poor financial prospects. On 6 December 1865, Gauguin signed on.


Anything but impressive in appearance, Gauguin was only five foot four in height. He would grow taller. He was slender, quick and agile in movement. He was still a virgin, an infuriating fact that itched and irritated and nagged. His face was oval with pronounced cheekbones and olive skin. His dark hair was wavy and thick. In the sun it shone with red-gold lights. His nose was already aquiline and conspicuously large, but it had not yet become the dominant and intimidating feature. His chin was short, he never had much beard, his lips were full and attractive. The eyes dominated: heavily lidded, hazel-green, sarcastic and watchful. I am a savage from Peru. Noli me tangere! Don’t touch me!


His first job was as pilot’s apprentice on a three-master passenger ship of 1,200 tons called the Luzitano. He didn’t make many friends on board, and he had no special interest in the profession he had chosen, beyond the negative one of escaping from the Kingdom of Gold. What he was escaping to, he had not yet given any thought.
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